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Report of the Metropolitan 
Fall Meeting of the Metropolitan Council  

September 24-27, 2013 
 
Your Eminence and Your Graces, Very Reverend and Reverend Fathers, Honorable 
Counselors, Respected Matushki, Members of the Metropolitan Council and Guests,  
 
Christ is in our midst! 
 
I am pleased to welcome all of you and I am thankful for your willingness to re-
arrange the Agenda of the Metropolitan Council Meeting so as to accommodate my 
trip to France. I am also grateful for your prayers on behalf of my grandmother and 
for your condolences. It was providential that I was able to both visit her 10 days 
ago, while she was still living, to share our final farewells with prayer and near-
silent conversation and then to attend her funeral services on Sunday and 
yesterday; My presence there was also providential in light of the fact that there 
was no priest to perform the services and I was able to serve a Panikhida for the 
repose of her soul. 
 
 
GENERAL THOUGHTS 
 
I have passed out a full schedule of my activities since my election in November of 
last year. In my present report, I will focus on those events that have taken place 
since the last Metropolitan Council meeting in February. At the same time, I will 
take some inspiration from my Grandmother, whose biography, where it to be 
written in the form of a report, would not yield much content, but whose life was 
one resplendent with beauty, wisdom and love: virtues that almost invisibly touched 
her children, her grandchildren and her great-grandchildren and which cannot be 
expressed adequately in words.  
 
In much the same way that the impact of the saints goes beyond the often short 
descriptions of their external life (One such saint is commemorated today: St 
Silouan of the Holy Mountain. His biographer, Archimandrite Sophrony, noted that 
St Silouan’s external monastic life could be summarized by the dash between the 
date of his entrance into the monastery and the date of his death – but within that 
dash a great treasure was hid) so must the work of the Church proceed. Whether it 
be on the Diocesan, Deanery or parish level, whether it be in meetings of the 
Metropolitan Council, Diocesan Councils or parish councils, whether we be in 
community or alone, we need to nurture that true work of faith that proceeds, not 
from our external actions, but from our hearts and from our desire to serve the 
Lord.  
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It has been said that the past year has brought a period of calm and stability. Glory 
to God for such periods in our often turbulent and difficult lives. In my travels and 
pastoral visits throughout the OCA, I have felt this calm and stability – but I have 
also felt the zeal and the energy of our clergy and faithful: zeal to do the work of 
Christ and the energy to sacrifice their own comfort and stability for the sake of the 
Kingdom. I have perceived a healthy violence that is waiting to take that Kingdom 
by force. This is reflected in the reports that you have reviewed for this meeting, but 
even more so, is found in the prayers, words and actions of all those in the Church 
who labor sacrificially for the spreading of the Gospel.  
 
If there is one thing that I would ask of all within the Orthodox Church in America, 
and in particular, those who are members of this Metropolitan Council, it would be 
the following: that we be mindful of the fact that all of our planning, all of our 
talking, all of our activities, all of our work in the Church will be vain and useless if 
it is not founded on the reality and glory of Christ and His Kingdom and if it does 
not seek to proclaim and make manifest that reality and glory in this world.  
 
The Fathers remind us that we should not give heed to voices, no matter where they 
may claim to come from, nor do we align ourselves with those who fight alone. Our 
task is to work together in community and seek our inspiration from on High. We 
should strive at all times to choose the less glamorous, less attention-seeking and 
less verbose path of denying ourselves, taking up our cross and following Christ. In 
all of you who have gathered here this week, I sense the desire and the will to do 
just that and I would ask that you encourage one another in this task and that you 
never forget to rely on God’s grace and mercy in all things.  
 
OCA CHANCERY 
 
In terms of an evaluation of the work of the Chancery Office, I would refer you first 
to the Report from the Reorganization Work Group which was tasked with 
evaluating where the work of the Church can most effectively be done (centrally or 
locally). While the Work Group’s report is preliminary, it does offer us a good place 
to begin our further discussions on this matter. These are issues that the Holy 
Synod will be taking up at its Fall Session as well.  
 
Chancellor. Our Chancellor, Archpriest John Jillions, has provided us with a 
summary of some of the goals that were accomplished since the Fall Session of the 
Metropolitan Council last year. He has also laid out some of his objectives for 2014, 
many of which are well on the way to implementation. Others may appear to be 
more long-term in scope, but it is crucial for us to take such an approach to the 
many complex issues that continue to confront us. I thank Fr. John for his ability to 
generate such a forward-thinking proposals while, at the same time, helping me to 
deal with the many urgent matters that come up every day, some of which we will 
be addressing in more detail later in our meetings this week.  
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Secretary. Archpriest Eric Tosi, our OCA Secretary, has reported on the 
difficulties we have faced in the area of staffing. I would like to express my deepest 
thanks to Jessica Linke and Andrew Boyd for their dedicated service to the 
Chancery and to me, personally. They will be missed but I rejoice that both of them 
are continuing to offer their talents within the Orthodox Church in America: 
Andrew in his work with the Youth Department and Jessica in her work on the 
OCA website. I also ask that you keep Gregory Sulich in your prayers during his 
medical leave of absence, in anticipation of his return to his good work. Much of the 
work  of these dedicated servants has been taken up by Protodeacon Joseph 
Matusiak, who will be assisting with my correspondence and scheduling, and by 
Roman Ostash, my Subdeacon, who serves faithfully, quietly and with discretion.  
 
The Archives project is something that should really be placed on the front burner, 
as well as the filling in of the pool. Although the long-term use of the Chancery in 
Syosset has been, and may continue to be, a subject of much passionate discussion, 
it seems to me that, at this point in time, we must make use of this property in the 
most effective way. It is my hope that the final items of renovation referred to in Fr. 
Eric’s Report can be accomplished in a timely manner. 
 
I thank Fr Eric for his tireless work and also congratulate him on his reception of 
the Silver St Innocent Award which I bestowed on him on May 12. This award is 
well deserved, both for his past efforts and for the current herculean work he is 
offering as reflected both by what is contained in his report and that which he did 
not include out of humility.  
 
Treasurer. You likewise have received the report from our Treasurer, Ms. 
Melanie Ringa. Although she only works part time at the Chancery, I can confirm 
to you that she is an invaluable member of our Chancery. She interfaces constantly 
with me, with the other Officers, with the Holy Synod, with the Diocesan 
Chancellors and Treasurers and with everyone who is involved in the finances of 
the Church. She also works closely with the Finance Committee, the HR Committee 
and the Financial Development Committee.  
 
All of this she offers, not only because she has the ability and the talent to manage 
all that information, but because she takes seriously the mandate that was given to 
us by the All American Council in Seattle: to find a more effective way of funding 
the Church. This question, along with the review and revision of the Statute, will 
constitute the bulk of our discussions at the next All American Council. But as she 
constantly reminds us, these discussions must not be left to 2015 but need to be 
acted on immediately. I am sure that we will be devoting a large portion of our 
meeting to these questions.  
 
ALL AMERICAN COUNCIL 
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Fr. Eric Tosi will provide us with more details on the 2015 All American Council but 
I would like to highlight two points:  
 
1) Under the chairmanship of Archbishop Nathaniel, I have appointed a Task Force 
on OCA Statute Revision, which will consist of a number of qualified members from 
the Legal Committee and canon law experts. This effort has been encouraged by 
Judge Ray Lanier and we are grateful that he is on this task force and will be 
bringing his considerable skills and wisdom to bear on the subject. Although the 
original intent was that this revision would be narrower in focus, looking at the 
specific Statutory problems that have been brought to light recently, the Holy Synod 
has recently proposed that the Task Force take on a more comprehensive approach 
to the Revision process. 
 
2) In a more general sense, I think the important work of the Post Conciliar Council 
should be closely reviewed, including their recommendation to transition the work 
of the PoCC to the regular life of the Church. This is the ideal since we want to have 
all of this good work taking place on all levels of the Church, not simply in 
committees. Nevertheless, those committees have borne much fruit and I feel that 
we will continue to grow in this area.  
 
OCA DEPARTMENTS 
 
Our OCA Departments continue their good work and I have been pleased to 
participate in many of their activities. Four of the Departments held a very 
successful Parish Ministries Conference and it is hoped that such inter-
departmental cooperation will continue in the future. The Department of 
Evangelization held a three-day summit in Charleston last month, and the 
chairman of the Department, Fr. John Parker, has submitted a report of other 
departmental activities. Although he has taken on a new position as the Dean of St 
Tikhon’s Seminary, Fr. Steven Voytovich will continue his work as Director of the 
Department of Institutional Chaplaincy until a successor can be found.  
 
Military Chaplaincy. I had already reported on my attendance in January, 
together with our Dean of Chaplains, Fr. Ted Boback, at the National Conference of 
Ministry to Armed Forces (NCMAF) and the Endorsers Conference of Veterans 
Affairs Chaplaincy (ECVAC) as well as attending a breakfast with Chief Chaplains 
of all branches of the US Armed Forces. Subsequently, I travelled to Fort Bliss in 
April for a three day visit to the Army Installation there, whose Orthodox 
servicemen and women were under the direction of Fr. Peter Baktis, one of our 
highest ranking of our Orthodox Chaplains 
 
Much good work has been taking place in our Departments of Liturgical Music 
and Youth and Young Adults. Both of these are areas that we need, as a Church, 
to devote our attention and our resources, since our youth and our liturgical 
heritage are some of our greatest treasures.  
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LEGAL MATTERS 
 
I will not dwell too much on legal matters except to note that Judge Ray Lanier’s 
characterization of the period between the Spring and Fall sessions of the 
Metropolitan Council as being “extremely busy” for the Legal Committee is 
somewhat of an understatement. I thank Ray for his very succinct report, but I 
must say that this report does not truly reflect the reality of the work-load of all on 
our Legal Committee.  
 
The Legal Committee, of course, works very closely with our General Counsel, 
Thaddeus Wojcik, who likewise has been quite busy. He will have much to offer us 
during this meeting concerning our legal responsibilities, so at this point, I will 
simply emphasize one point, which I am almost certain he will bring up: and that 
point is that the issue of sexual misconduct, our response to allegations, our 
handling of cases and our treatment of respondents and our pastoral care for 
victims, is the most crucial legal matter affecting the Orthodox Church in America.  
 
I would only add that to state such does not mean that the issues are limited to the 
legal realm. Rather, there are pastoral, theological and spiritual implications to all 
of these issues, which means that all of us are not only legally liable, but morally 
and ethically bound to participate and be educated in all the means that have been, 
and continue to be, implemented in order to address issues of sexual misconduct.  
 
SEXUAL MISCONDUCT 
 
You have received fuller reports concerning our efforts in the area of response to 
allegations of sexual misconduct. I will not say much at this point, other than to 
note a few key areas of needed development. This area of the life of the Church is a 
new field for all of us, and consequently, it often leads to tension in our own internal 
processes. Over the past few months, much has been clarified in terms of 
communication between the various offices that deal with sexual misconduct issues: 
Legal Committee, General Counsel, ORSMA, SMPAC, Crisis Management. The 
interface of all these organs with the dioceses and their bishops and administration 
has also been a topic of discussion and clarfication. 
 
The paths of communication and of sharing of not only information but also 
expertise in different areas are in the process of being clarified, but at the same 
time, there is a continual need for ongoing education and the securing of a Church-
wide understanding of proper response to these issues.  
 
As was reported, the hope is to have the revised Policies, Standards and Procedures 
of the Orthodox Church in America on Sexual Misconduct (PSP) ready for 
distribution soon, pending further discussion between the ORSMA, the SMPAC and 
the Holy Synod at the upcoming Fall Session.  
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Another area that will need to be strengthened is that of Diocesan compliance with 
the PSPs, which has been required since 2010 on an annual basis. This week, a 
preliminary report will be presented to this Metropolitan Council meeting with a 
summary of the Diocesan Compliance with the current PSPs to date. At the same 
time, since this is an annual requirement, we will need to begin once again to 
present these requirements to the Dioceses and to every single parish. Although the 
bishops are the ones ultimately responsible for mandating compliance from the 
parishes, it is extremely important that both Metropolitan Council representatives 
and Diocesan Council representatives take a part in emphasizing the critical legal 
and moral importance of being compliant.  
 
We will have a more extended discussion of the many areas involving sexual 
misconduct issues but I do want to mention that we are thankful to have Cindy 
Davis as our new coordinator of the ORSMA, and she has certainly put in a lot of 
work and effort into her position, as you will see from her report and as she can 
expand upon herself.  
 
STAVROPEGIAL INSTITUTIONS 
 
I have made pastoral visits to each of the Stavropegial institutions, both the 
Monasteries and the Seminaries. In particular, I have been attending meetings of 
the Board of Trustees of both St Tikhon and St Vladimir Seminaries, as well as 
other events held at each institution. One particularly significant meeting was a 
meeting of a select number of member from each of these Seminaries’ Board of 
Trustees in Cleveland on July 18. The meeting was organized and hosted by the two 
Chairs of each Board, Mr. Alex Machaskee and Mr. Michael Herzak. The meeting 
was very productive and has led to a number of joint undertakings. It is my hope 
that such inter-seminary cooperation will continue as we seek to develop further our 
Theological Seminaries. This coming Saturday, the Chancery will be hosting an 
outdoor celebration of the Divine Liturgy in the Chancery garden in 
commemoration of the 75th Anniversary of St Tikhon and St Vladimir Seminaries, 
the 40th Anniversary of St Herman Seminary and the 55th Anniversary of St Sergius 
Chapel.  
 
THE ARCHDIOCESE OF WASHINGTON 
 
I will only address a few issues concerning the Archdiocese of Washington that may 
have an impact on, or hold some interest for, the members of the Metropolitan 
Council. Last Saturday, I had made arrangements to fly out from Washington, DC, 
for my Grandmother’s funeral because of the regularly scheduled Diocesan Council 
Meeting which I felt was important to hold as scheduled.  I have been more or less 
successful in maintaining a presence in the Archdiocese: since November, I have 
made a pastoral visit to every parish at least once and I am working on a second 
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round of visits with the goal of visiting every parish and mission twice during the 
year, a goal that seems reasonable with only 10 communities to visit.  
 
In addition, I have instituted bi-monthly informal meetings with the clergy, the first 
of which will be held in conjunction with our Diocesan Assembly in November and, 
together with the Officers of the Archdiocesan Administration, I have committed to 
holding monthly meetings to review, in person or via teleconference, the important 
issues facing the Archdiocese.  
 
THE HOLY SYNOD 
 
All of the above questions and issues are foremost in the minds of the Holy Synod 
Bishops. In additions we have a number of other issues that we are concerned 
about.  
 
Assembly of Bishops.  I have just returned from Chicago where I attended the 
fourth annual Assembly of Canonical Orthodox Bishops of North and Central 
America along with most of the bishops of the Orthodox Church in America. As has 
been the case during the last three years, the meetings were a wonderful 
opportunity for all the bishops of North America to gather in fellowship and to 
engage in discussions on various important topics.  
 
Diocesan Vacancies. A Priority for the Holy Synod is the filling of Diocesan 
vacancies. The process for this, as well as a review of possible candidates is on the 
Agenda for the Fall Session in October. The need to properly review and prepare 
candidates for the episcopacy needs to take a front and center place for the Holy 
Synod.  
 
Metropolitan Jonah. At its February meeting, the Metropolitan Council approved 
a financial package of support for Metropolitan Jonah as recorded in the Minutes:  
 
To approve a financial package for Metropolitan Jonah, including $1000 per month 
until age 65, full medical coverage for three years, assumption by the OCA of 
amounts owed by Metropolitan Jonah to the Diocese of the South, and moving 
expenses not to exceed $25,000. To recommend that the Holy Synod consider the 
impact on this package should Metropolitan Jonah leave the OCA and that general 
release and non-disparagement clauses be included in the agreement.  
 
I am pleased to report that a signed agreement between Metropolitan Jonah and 
the Holy Synod of Bishops was signed on Memorial Day Monday at St Tikhon’s 
Monastery this past May. This fact was reported on the OCA website but I would 
like to note that the agreement included all of the components laid out in the above 
motion.  
 
EXTERNAL AFFAIRS 
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As outlined in the OCA Statute, the Metropolitan “supervises the internal and 
external welfare of the Church and represents it in its relations with other 
Orthodox Churches, religious organizations, and secular authorities.” In this 
capacity, I have been engaged in many events and dialogues over the past six 
months. Among the Orthodox, I have held many meetings with heads of 
jurisdictions in North America, including with Meeting with Metropolitan Philip 
(Antiochian Archdiocese), Metropolitan Hilarion (ROCOR), Archbishop Justinian 
(Moscow Patriarchate).  
 
A particularly significant event was the celebration of the 1025th Anniversary of 
the Baptism of Rus in Moscow (Russia), Kiev (Ukraine) and Minsk 
(Belarus) at the gracious invitation of His Holiness, Patriarch Kirill of Moscow and 
All Russia, who also invited the Patriarchs of all the Autocephalous Churches to 
participate. All of the Churches were indeed represented, many by their Primate 
and others by an appointed representative. Among the meetings held during the 
above pilgrimage were meetings of all the Patriarchs and Heads of delegations with 
the Presidents of all three countries: Mr. Putin, Mr. Yanukovich and Mr. 
Lukashenko. I had the opportunity to briefly greet the outgoing American 
Ambassador to Ukraine. But most important was the opportunity to serve together 
with the other Primates and representatives of all of the Orthodox Churches.   
 
In terms of relations with non-Orthodox, I participated in the inauguration of Pope 
Francis (March 19) and gave a talk at the Orientale Lumen Conference in 
Washington, DC., among other events.  
 
I offer my thanks to Fr. Leonid Kishkovsky for his valuable work and guidance in 
the Department of External Affairs. He will present some further thoughts later on 
in this meeting.  
 
CONCLUSIONS 
 
On one of my yearly visits to my newly-departed Grandmother, I asked her what 
the secret to her long life consisted of. She replied:  
 
“Farmworkers live a long time and in good health because they rested during the 
day. They worked hard, but they knew when to take a break, and take a little nap 
under the apple tree.”  She pointed out that the work people do today (pushing 
papers and having meetings) is perhaps more difficult than farm work because 
people are falsely led into the notion that they can do it for a long time without a 
break. 
 
Our current state of peace should not delude into thinking that we are now free 
from conflict and troubles on the one hand, nor should we feel that need to complete 
all of our work speedily, on the other hand. Let us rather work together and in 
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collaboration with one another, preserving a sense of urgency, but allowing 
ourselves the time to rest, so that we may receive strength from our Lord and 
Savior Jesus Christ to accomplish all things in God’s times and for His glory.  
 
 



Orthodox Church in America 
Metropolitan Council Meeting 

September 24-26, 2013 
 

Chancellor’s Report 
 
 
Waves 
 
Most of you know that I finally moved house in August from Ottawa to Long Island. One of 
the precious items that came down is an icon of the Apostle Peter getting out of the boat 
and sinking in the billowing waves around him. “Jesus immediately reached out his hand 
and caught him, saying to him, ‘O man of little faith, why did you doubt?’”(Matt 14:31). I 
now have the icon just behind my desk as I work.  
 
Less piously, as a fortune cookie put it the other day, “There will always be waves but you 
can learn to surf.”  
 
 

 
 
 
Hard questions about the future 
 
In fact, the waves in the OCA aren’t nearly as scary as they were a year, two years or five 
years ago. I am grateful that since His Beatitude’s election in November 2012 the OCA’s 
life is returning to the relative administrative calm that had been missing for ten years.  
Metropolitan Tikhon, the officers and the Chancery staff work very well together in a spirit 
of professionalism, good humor, warmth and free flowing communication. I know that all of 
us are relieved and happy about that. As you see especially from Fr Eric’s report, the work 
at the chancery covers a very wide swath of ground. Of course there are many significant 
issues to be addressed, and we will be looking at those this week, just as the Holy Synod 
will also be wrestling with a long list of tasks at their meeting in October. But we can look 
at these challenges in an atmosphere that is less fraught with tension. In fact, this 
normalization is paradoxically exactly the right time for us, as those who have leadership 
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First let me review progress o

																																																			

responsibilities, to look fearlessly at the realities and risks we face as a Church. Our 
lawyers constantly alert us to liabilities, especially around preventing and addressing 
sexual misconduct, but this is only part of a much wider set of questions we have to ask 
ourselves about the future of the Orthodox Church in North America. We would all like to 
be comfortable, especially after a long and difficult period in our recent history. But 
preoccupation with those past scandals masked “normal” issues that continued while our 
attention was focused on a troubled present.  
 

Many leaders have a tendency to discount the future; they’re reluctant to spend 
time and money now to avoid an uncertain future problem that might occur down 
the road, on someone else’s watch ...But a company’s ability to weather storms 
depends very much on how seriously executives take their risk-management 
function when the sun is shining and no clouds are on the horizon. 

That’s from the Harvard Business Review1. Here’s a hockey analogy to make the similar 
point. 
 
“Where is the puck going?” 
 
Fr John Shimchick is editor of Jacob’s Well, the magazine of the Diocese of New York and 
New Jersey. The next issue asks the question, “Where is the puck going?” As Fr John 
explains, “The legendary hockey player, Wayne Gretzky, once said: ‘I skate to where the 
puck is going, not where it has been.’”   
He asks a wide range of people to consider “Where does the Church need to be 
going? Where does it need to be if it’s not there already?  Or what does the Church need 
to re-claim or re-discover?” With Fr John’s permission, here’s a taster, the response from 
Metropolitan Tikhon.  
 

We tend to wait until people come to us with questions, until they take the initiative 
and show interest in the Church. But we need much more to engage with people 
who are not churchly, who have no idea about the Church, or who have rejected it. 
We need to ask ourselves questions about how to engage these people and the 
culture that gives rise to them while also remaining faithful to the Church's 
Tradition. We need to consider how best to transmit this Tradition to those who 
may be unaware, indifferent, or hostile.    

 
You’ll have to get the next Jacob’s Well issue to see the rest of the responses, but this is 
what we need to be asking ourselves if we want to shape our church now so that by God’s 
grace we will be there to bring the Orthodox faith and life and serve the children, women 
and men of the future.  
 
In line with this, and to help get a sense of what we are facing I will report on my 
conversations with diocesan chancellors from across the Orthodox Church in America 
further below.  
 
Objectives from a year ago 
 

n the objectives I set out at our MC meeting last September. 

				 	
1	Robert S. Kaplan and Anette Mikes, “Managing Risk: A New Framework,” 
Harvard Business Review, June 2012 (accessed online). 	
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So much has happened since then that it’s hard to believe only a year has gone by.  
 

1. Hold a successful 17th All-American Council and election of a new Primate.  
Done.  
 

2. Maintain stable administration to work with the new Metropolitan. 
Done.  
 

3. Advance the “organizational structure work group” or other means to review how 
the Metropolitan, Holy Synod, Lesser Synod, Chancery, Metropolitan Council and 
committees can effectively work together under direction of the bishops. 
Done.  
 

4. Move forward on appointment of ORSMA Coordinator, remove backlog on 
processing of current cases and review of past files; continue refining procedures 
for handling misconduct complaints; finalize, approve and distribute PSPs.  
The Coordinator (Cindy Davis) was appointed by the Holy Synod in February on a 
part-time basis (3 days per week) after a selection process and agreement by 
SMPAC; proposal is under consideration by SMPAC and the HS to expand her 
position to full time. The revised PSP’s were completed and sent to Holy Synod for 
approval. (See below and ORSMA and SMPAC reports). 
 

5. Review use of legal services and bring legal costs under control. 
In process: the Treasurer and Legal Committee have worked on this and have 
been in conversation with the GC. The proposed budget for 2014 reflects this.  
 

6. Final drafting, agreement and training on crisis management procedures. 
To be done: the Crisis Management Team’s pro bono consultant, Chief Bernard 
Wilson, has been heavily involved as a consultant as well to ORSMA and SMPAC 
and this has impacted the time he has to prepare a manual and conduct training. 
However, recent CMT activities have been handled smoothly and collaboratively 
under Abp Benjamin’s chairmanship and Chief Wilson’s advice.    
 

7. Advance financial development plan and implementation.  
In process (see Financial Development Committee report).  

 
 
Coordinator, Office for Review of Sexual Misconduct Allegations 
 
As you know from the Treasurer’s report, the OCA is in a period of financial exigency, and 
the 2014 budget proposes cuts of around $150,000. Nevertheless, one area that must be 
expanded is the OCA’s Office for Review of Sexual Misconduct Allegations. I am hoping 
that the MC and Holy Synod will agree to upgrade the ORSMA Coordinator position from 
part-time to full time, at a proposed annual salary of $60,000.  
 
Cindy Davis has done a superb job in the first months since she was hired—well beyond 
her 3 days per week. You will see her full report, but here is the list of her activities since 
starting the position:  
 

● Reviewed all current cases with the Director of ORSMA 
● Created forms for systematic intake of new cases 
● Created and maintain cases log in Excel 
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● Organized physical sexual misconduct files 
● Assisted in preliminary inquiries and investigations in the Diocese of the West, 

South, Midwest, Eastern Pennsylvania, New England, Romanian Episcopate, 
Canada, and Alaska. 

● Provided consultation concerning closed cases in various dioceses. 
● Assisted in an investigation at a theological seminary 
● Attended training on how to teach healthy boundaries to clergy 
● Attended weekly case reviews with Metropolitan Tikhon and/or Fr. John Jillions 
● Researched sexual misconduct policies by other institutions 
● Made recommendations for policy revisions 
● Provided follow up care to victims involved in new cases of sexual misconduct 
● Made referrals to ongoing therapy for victims of sexual misconduct 
● Discussed opportunities for collaborating with the Clergy Continuing Education 

Department 
● Received input from clergy and lay people regarding the process of responding to 

sexual misconduct 
● Documented in detail all communications on current cases 
● Provided training on and engaged in discussion about policy and procedure with 

administrative staff of Orthodox Christian Fellowship 
● Drafted “Roles and Responsibilities” document for Response Teams 
● Conceptualized “Roles and Responsibilities” documents for all other roles 

pertaining to sexual misconduct allegations (bishop, coordinator, consultants, 
SMPAC, mentor, etc.) 

● Sent MEMO to diocesan hierarchs concerning the proactive recruiting of response 
team volunteers which included a sample recruitment letter 

● Gave two lectures at St. Vladimir’s Seminary concerning healthy boundaries, policy 
and procedure 

● Drafted a “Respondent’s Guide to Sexual Misconduct Investigations” (first in a 
series of “Guides” for Victims, Response Teams, etc.) 

● Facilitated the increase in meetings with SMPAC members as well as ORSMA 
consultants 

● Facilitated meetings with response teams and ORSMA consultants 
● Facilitated multi-diocesan conference calls 
● Formed 4 response teams, 3 in process 

 
This work has proven invaluable but there are still serious gaps that cannot be filled in 3 
days a week.  
 

 Liaising with every diocese to set up diocesan networks of professionals as 
resources for Response Teams 

 Training dioceses and OCA institutions on misconduct prevention and the use of 
the PSP's 

 Working with SMPAC to review past cases in order to be sure there are no "ticking 
time bombs" remaining 

 Working with SMPAC to develop a procedure manual for the day-to-day handling 
of misconduct cases 

 Giving increased attention to the pastoral needs of complainants, respondents, and 
parishes affected by misconduct; attention to the training and pastoral needs of 
Response Teams assigned as volunteers to investigate new cases 

 Serving as a consultant to individuals, parishes and dioceses seeking advice on 
handling possible cases, using the PSP's and improving prevention and 
compliance  
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 Answering the new 1-800 number we will be posting for misconduct issues 
 
In discussions with His Beatitude and the Treasurer, it was agreed that in spite of the 
overall shrinking OCA budget, we have to make room for modestly increasing Cindy Davis’ 
salary so that she can work full-time. In preliminary discussions with Fr David Garretson, 
chair of the MC's Human Resources Committee, we agreed that this should be brought to 
the MC.  
 
The State of the OCA: Views from the Dioceses 
 
Now let me get back to reporting on what I heard from the dioceses. I was able to speak 
with most of the chancellors to get their candid grass-roots view. How is the OCA is doing 
at this moment, particularly in light of the last few years? What are the strengths, 
weaknesses, opportunities and threats? Naturally there are limitations to this approach. I 
promised anonymity, and some of the comments were highly specific to particular clergy, 
parishes and dioceses so can’t be reported here. And obviously this wasn’t a scientific 
survey.  
 
Even so I found the conversations helpful and worth sharing. It was also clear that the 
local situations vary tremendously when you consider that the OCA includes dioceses that 
serve Alaska, Canada (and Quebec), Mexico, Albanians, Bulgarians, Romanians and all 
the geographic dioceses of the United States, each with their own peculiarities. Keep in 
mind too that the “ethnic dioceses” have historic agreements with the OCA that govern 
their affiliation and financial participation. But even in these ethnic dioceses there are 
widely varying differences in perceptions about the OCA connection.  
 
Differences in nationality, geography, history, culture, language and even weather (Alaska) 
play a major role and contribute to every diocese’s sense of being “different” from all the 
others. In general “the OCA” is far away from the personal, family, parish and diocesan 
concerns that dominate most people’s lives. And yet, time after time I was struck by the 
resilience of commitment to the OCA’s founding vision. They believe in an autocephalous 
Orthodox Church in and for North America, that is accessible to all and living the Orthodox 
faith in a compelling way that attracts others. And they believe that the way we have 
learned to bring bishops, clergy and laity together for building up of the Body of Christ is a 
gift to protect.  
 
Not everyone answered every question in a systematic way, but I hope this cut and paste 
of their comments will give you a sense of the whole. Naturally, there is some repetition, 
but this is deliberately included to help you gauge what is important. To keep the main 
narrative from getting too long I will include here just the overall impressions from the 
chancellors. The more detailed responses about strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and 
threats are given in the appendix to this report. It is worth paying attention to these, and 
they have helped inform my own thinking about the tasks that should be addressed.  
 
What is your overall impression of the OCA’s health, as perceived by clergy and 
laity in your diocese?  
 
“Much improved in comparison to past years; good working group in Chancery; much is 
owed to presence of a new and competent Metropolitan.”  
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“People are preoccupied with personal, parish concerns—perhaps diocesan—but now that 
we aren’t still shooting ourselves in the foot, they are thinking less about the OCA and are 
confident in the leadership.” 
 
“Nice and peaceful, looks like we are moving somewhere positive and have learned from 
our mistakes. We still have to deal with things like misconduct but even that we’re learning 
to address so much better than in the past. Since the election of the new Metropolitan we 
are on the right track.”   
 
“People are relieved that the ‘time of troubles’ is over and we have entered an era of 
peace and calm. Impressed at the way the OCA handled these past problems: very 
upfront, forthright and carefully. It was difficult but appreciated and acknowledged and 
noted. Grateful that the Metropolitan is making time to visit Diocesan Assemblies.”   
 
“The picture is a lot better. It’s no longer the dark ages. There seems to be a sense of 
calmness, that we have a metropolitan and Holy Synod that is acting in concert and getting 
back to the business of the church. People are satisfied that we’re dealing with ‘normal’ 
church problems now. It’s going right, it’s where it needs to be and now we need to move 
forward.”  
 
“Working in the diocese I feel blessed beyond what I ever expected. Church life in the 
villages, their desire for a priest and for services—it’s all very encouraging. But pastoral 
stresses among the people keep their focus on themselves and their families. There’s very 
little thought about life beyond that, even about the parish, let alone the diocese. Clergy 
are faced with many personal crises among parishioners: children in prison, fetal alcohol 
syndrome, alcohol abuse, teen pregnancy. These obliterate other concerns. People sense 
that we aren’t taking these issues seriously enough as a church and that we leave it to 
others. As for the OCA as a whole, it’s just not on people’s minds. When they do think 
about it, it’s, “We’re so not like the rest of them.” This can be a problem to justify or excuse 
troubling practices, like tolerance of misconduct and alcohol abuse among clergy. ‘It’s our 
way, it’s our culture.’” 
 
“Our [ethnic diocese] has a strong affiliation and commitment to the OCA, but we ask that 
you let the diocese be the one to take initiative to open negotiations about raising its 
contributions to OCA. It’s a sore point when it’s raised at the MC or AAC and sets things 
back. The diocese has completely changed in recent years and there are very few laity 
and clergy of our ethnic background. The Diocese is strongly committed to the OCA, but 
the fact is that for most people personal and parish concerns predominate together with 
anxieties about our own diocesan existence and future.”  
 
“On a parish level most parishioners in our [ethnic diocese] are committed to the OCA but 
are still taking a wait and see approach. They have great confidence in the bishop but are 
waiting to see what trend Metropolitan Tikhon will follow. They were upset at the direction 
the previous metropolitan was taking toward the Russian church and his apparent 
willingness to give up the autocephaly. They are concerned about the Assembly of 
Bishops and what this will actually mean for us, since they have deep reservations about 
intrusions from overseas churches. 80% of our people want no ties to overseas churches. 
They want autocephaly. Our parishes across the US generally relate well to local OCA 
deaneries wherever they are, but it’s still too early to talk of amalgamation. The overall 
desire is for a united church in North America. Some parishes are more ethnic than others, 
but on the parish and deanery level we would want to retain ethnic distinctiveness.”    
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“The OCA is on the right path now, and the Metropolitan’s presence at our Assembly was 
very well received. He’s a “regular person”, made a contribution and sparked enthusiasm. 
But most people are thinking about their parish. Most clergy are on the pension plan, but 
that’s about the only regular connection, and even the pension reporting is infrequent. 
Nevertheless the clergy are overwhelmingly foreign born and it’s hard for most of them to 
imagine a local church without administrative ties to overseas. Consequently, it would be a 
touchy time to bring up renegotiation of the agreement with the OCA.”  
 

* * * 
 

These conversations are just a start. I hope that across the OCA conversations like this 
will continue and feed into parishes, deaneries and diocesan assemblies. We need to keep 
talking about the realities and challenges of Orthodox Christian life in North America and 
what the OCA needs to do to prepare and train our parishes, seminarians, clergy and laity 
to face them. As Fr Sergius Bulgakov said, our task in this world is not simply to know, but 
with God’s help to transform.  
 
 
Chancellor’s Objectives for 2014 
 
 

1. Work with SMPAC, ORSMA, the Metropolitan and Holy Synod to continue to make 
progress on policies and procedures for preventing and addressing misconduct. 

 
2. Develop the Stewards of the Orthodox Church in America, finding new supporters 

and rebuilding relationships with those who fell away. 
 

3. Work with the Board of Theological Education to ensure uniform standards for 
selecting, evaluating, training, ordaining, mentoring and supporting candidates for 
ordination in the Orthodox Church in America.    

 
4. Work with the Holy Synod to ensure uniform standards for receiving clergy into the 

OCA.  
 

5. Ensure that the Holy Synod has the administrative support it needs to identify, 
train, mentor and evaluate candidates for the episcopacy.  

 
6. Restore the Department of Pastoral Life as a functioning body to connect OCA 

clergy with each other and with resources for their ministries, their parishes, their 
families and themselves. 

 
7. Consult with the Metropolitan and Holy Synod to address the needs of immigrants.   

 
8. Continue to write the “Chancellor’s Diary” as an effective means to connect the 

Chancery with the wider Church.  
Respectfully submitted, 

 
Fr John A. Jillions, 

Chancellor 
September 25, 2013 

St Sergius of Radonezh 
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Appendix 
 

Diocesan chancellors on  
OCA Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities and Threats 

 
Strengths 
 
“The OCA has a huge strength in simply being the Church. Many are still looking for this. 
They are shell-shocked from experiences elsewhere and amazed to find what we have. 
We don’t change with the wind, we have beautiful services, understandable, simple gospel 
preaching.”  
 
“The OCA vision is still alive and well: an Orthodox Church in America, an American 
missionary church. Our parishes get this and are multicultural. Eventually we could even 
sacrifice our own existence to share this with other Orthodox Churches and unite with all to 
be one Church.”  
 
“The majority are very happy about how the Holy Synod handled recent issues. Regarding 
Metropolitan Tikhon, anyone who has any dealings with him is very happy right now. He 
has a pastoral air, doesn’t put himself above others, listens and consults with other 
bishops.”  
 
“We have the best governance system in the Orthodox world, with lay involvement in the 
administration of the church. Yes, it’s a struggle at times, takes hours of conversation, but 
in the long run this will bear better fruit.” 
 
“We have talented and active laity and lots of good ideas.”  
 
“Cindy Davis [Coordinator of the Office for Review of Sexual Misconduct Allegations]: She 
is a great resource. It’s normal now that when we have a difficult situation or questions 
about misconduct or how to handle the process or the parish, I talk with the bishop and we 
say, ‘Let’s give Cindy a call.’ This makes a huge difference to me as chancellor when I 
have to deal with these cases, to have someone knowledgeable to speak with.”  
 
“People I meet across the diocese do share the vision of an Orthodox Church in and for 
North America. Individual parishes and clergy are doing well, there’s a good spirit, people 
are working hard, catechumens are coming.”  
 
“Even our weakness—the past internal scandals of the last ten years—can be seen as a 
strength because we dealt with it. All the negativity taught us something. The ORSMA 
coordinator, the OCA’s guidelines and continuing education for dealing with misconduct: 
this comes out of these negative experiences. We’re learning and we have transparency.  
 
 
Weaknesses 
 
“People want the bishops and church leaders to simply be the autocephalous church, to 
act like it and stop apologizing and being so hesitant because of fear of what others will 
say or do. We’re doing what we have to do as the OCA. We don’t need to cower. This 
applies to administrative decisions as well. Don’t be so afraid or hesitant.” 
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“There is frustration over the lack of vetted candidates for the episcopate [this was 
mentioned multiple times]. This is now reflecting badly on the Holy Synod.” 
 
“Overall there is a positive view of the OCA’s leadership, but how individual situations in 
the diocese are being handled is bringing this down. There is frustration when promises 
are made but there is no follow through. There are decision-making bottlenecks from the 
Holy Synod and not enough guidance.”  
 
“How the OCA handles misconduct cases is much improved, largely because of now 
having a Coordinator. But there appears to be too much discussion and too little decision-
making. Too many people are involved in the process. This is a huge issue, and people 
feel that everyone is passing the buck. The system is paralyzed. And in one of the 
parishes affected, which already has an anti-clerical reputation, it only makes things 
worse. ‘Why should we pay for a problem we didn’t create? Why should we pay for a 
substitute priest’s travel, hotel and services? Why isn’t the OCA paying?’ The diocese is 
small and people know each other, so complaints spread and affect morale.”  
 
“The PSP’s are good [Policies, Standards and Procedures on Sexual Misconduct], but we 
need to move beyond this single issue and deal with the whole realm of clergy care and 
formation. We need to ensure that the personal and pastoral dimension of the PSP’s is not 
overlooked with complainant, respondent, their families and the parish. Would that we put 
the same amount of time and effort into mission planning and training and clergy care as 
we do into sexual misconduct. To be a pastor today is much more difficult than in years 
past. We must be even more careful therefore about who we choose, how we form them 
and how we mentor them. Seminarians need to hear from experienced priests about what 
they are facing now.” 
 
“We need decisions. It’s about getting work done without so much obstruction and delay. 
There needs to be a continuous process for searching out, training, mentoring and vetting 
candidates for the episcopate and not much of that is going on at all. This feeling is 
prevalent throughout the diocese. On the other hand, the Diocesan assembly was good, 
peaceful, productive and well attended.”  
 
“Priests are under stress. Many are struggling in their parishes. There’s marital stress, 
divorce, misconduct. The OCA needs to address clergy selection, formation, health, 
mentoring. Students in seminary, after graduation and in the  and early years of ministry 
need support and monitoring. In this regard I’m not satisfied with the 
seminary/OCA/diocese connection and follow through. Priests at every stage of their 
ministry—and now too as many are aging—need more comprehensive mentoring and 
support.”  
 
“I worry sometimes that the Metropolitan Council is over-involved in the life of the church. 
It’s like a heavy-handed parish council. But then I also understand the historical reasons 
for why that is so in the recent past. Protective measures are needed to prevent the repeat 
of past errors, and the bishops too need counsel.”  
 
“I don’t hear much complaining and negativity. I’m not hearing overt hostility as in the past. 
Although the cost of assessments is always an issue there are no serious complaints. One 
persistent irritation is lack of a printed Orthodox Church magazine: the older generation 
especially wants to see this so I’m glad to hear that it will continue to be printed at least 
once a year.”  
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“The Diocesan leadership is generally pleased with the direction of the OCA but would like 
to have more ‘face time’ with representatives from the Central Church Administration, in 
order to have a more direct personal connection and to answer the perennial question,  
‘What do we get from the OCA?’”   
 
“Finances are a persistent trouble spot on the local level. Parishes are struggling. My own 
parish has 11 families that lost their homes. Many parishes are not making their budgets. 
‘Just have faith’ needs to be supplemented with training and resources and help to 
parishes to enable them to stand on their own. But the solution is not to cut salaries, 
especially at the national level, because we need a strong presence at the national level.”  
 
“Finances in many parishes are not good. Some haven’t paid assessments. Others are 
behind. Others are asking for a period of relief and for the diocese to pay on their behalf. 
But the Diocese is $2100 per month in the hole, and this can’t be sustained into 2014. 
Some parishes have crippling mortgages, and even though they have a good spirit they 
find it tough to survive. Part of the problem stems from the past. We went through a lot 
with the scandals. Numbers went down. People became bristly.”  
 
“We need more connectivity within the diocese.” 
 
“We have lots of good ideas and lots of meetings and lengthy documents but not enough 
obvious results. The talk in committees is good—AAC, MC, assemblies etc—but we also 
need to follow up and go from A to B. There’s too much power given to committees. They 
are meant to be advisory bodies to those who are responsible for making the decisions 
and taking action (bishops, officers).”  
 
“We’re not addressing the issue of our ethnic minorities, immigrants (I’m thinking 
especially about immigrants from former Soviet Union). We can’t claim to be an 
autocephalous territory without at the same time helping immigrants to make their home in 
the US or Canada and to embrace the OCA’s vision. Perhaps we need a special 
commission to address this as a pastoral problem.”  
 
“Standard procedures are needed for vetting transferred clergy from outside the OCA, and 
especially from overseas. These must be uniformly applied in all dioceses. We need this to 
weed out charlatans.”  
 
Opportunities 
 
“We need to champion the OCA vision much more and articulate it more effectively: 
hierarchy, clergy and laity working together. There are tensions between conciliar and 
hierarchal and we are constantly working to find the balance. But this is hopeful and is our 
particular struggle in our time and place. Keep refocusing on Christ and the gospel. Be 
okay with weakness and finding strength there.” 
 
“We need to be, and can be, little outposts across the continent of genuine, normal 
Christian faith. Good preaching, beauty, service, education, liturgy. New seminary 
graduates need to be exposed to this and trained how to set up new missions.” 
 
“The web gives us a huge opportunity. Go online, this is what young people do. Either we 
participate fully in this and have a future or we just give up. I wish we had more 
communication in general. The ‘Chancellor’s Diary’ is good, but the MC and HS only meet 
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twice a year. We need more webinars and skype meetings and such to keep us together, 
especially when so many of us are isolated from each other geographically.”  
 
“I would look at reaching out to the immigrant communities with the vision that the  OCA 
has to offer. But we can also help them settle in North America. In addition we can also 
look at the traditional Orthodox countries to see what they are doing to build up their 
churches, and learn from them what might also work here to advance the spiritual and 
material well-being of the Church (pilgrimages for example).”  
 
Threats 
 
“Will we as the OCA be lost in the Assembly of Bishops? It would be a big mistake to lose 
autocephaly, unless it’s to an autocephalous united church that includes everyone. The 
OCA vision is the future, and people are concerned how to read what’s happening right 
now in the Assembly of Bishops.”  
 
“We’re in a litigious society and have to be so careful. Our hands are tied by what we can 
or can’t say, liabilities, risks. Administration and putting out fires takes a lot of time and 
robs us of time to do more direct pastorally-related things.”  
 
“Clergy misconduct—sexual, alcohol abuse— is a big threat, which is why it’s so good to 
have someone in Cindy’s position that we can call on. But in general we need more 
attention to prevention and training and to clergy care. Where I am one in six clergy 
matters I deal with involves some form of pastoral misconduct, especially alcohol abuse.”  
 
“It’s good that we are dealing with misconduct and continuing education, but we also need 
to ensure that the bishops are engaged with this. Are the bishops taking seriously our 
documents, or are they making exceptions here and there, and playing favorites? If there 
is a policy, it needs to be followed.”  
 
“We’re not connecting with younger generations. And this is a problem across the 
churches. General social trends are affecting us, such as relativism and ‘pick and choose’ 
spirituality.”   

 



Report of the Office of Review of Sexual Misconduct Allegations (ORSMA) 
Metropolitan Council Meeting 
Fall, 2013 
 
Report given by Cindy Davis in Executive Session 
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SMPAC REPORT TO OCA METROPOLITAN COUNCIL 
SEPTEMBER 24, 2013 

 
SMPAC Members: Fr John Jillions (Chair, ex-officio as ORSMA Head), Fr Eric Tosi (ex-officio 
as OCA Secretary), Fr Alexander Garklavs, Fr Ted Bobosh, Dr Nikita Eike, Bob Koory, 
Protodeacon Peter Danilchick; Associates: Bernie Wilson, Cindy Davis (ex-officio as ORSMA 
Coordinator), Thaddeus Wojcik (ex-officio as GC) 
 
Major Activities and Issues 
 

 Performed “self-audit” in June 2013 at request of GC 

 Input received from SMPAC members and associates 
 Numerous issues surfaced and dealt with by actions noted below 

 Resumed regular teleconferences on planned monthly basis (previously ad hoc and sporadic) 

 In –person meeting  and discussion with Holy Synod scheduled for October 14, 2013 

 Reviewed and advised on various cases under investigation by ORSMA 

 Concern expressed on delays in investigation/ decision process -- despite welcome 
hiring of ORSMA Coordinator 

 Revised PSPs to address the issues raised by Holy Synod in their Spring 2013 meeting 

 Clarifications in various sections (e.g., emotional boundaries/ harassment) 
 Need for Ruling Bishop to be informed on investigation progress 
 Clarifications on hierarchical action vs spiritual court; rights of respondents 
 Revised PSPs to be reviewed/ approved by Holy Synod in October 2013 meeting 

 Take more active role in direct communications with MC and Holy Synod 

 SMPAC “non-ex-officio” representative to report to MC and Holy Synod  

 Encouraged Administration to report the degree of compliance of parishes, dioceses and 
ORSMA with OCA Sexual Misconduct Policies to the Church per the 2009 commitment 

 2009 compliance process required Dioceses to obtain answers to six “yes/no” 
questions posed to their parish rectors; report ORSMA program progress  

 Holy Synod has been receiving some diocesan reports but not all are responding; 
submitted results are mixed and not 100%, despite four years since initiation 

 2009 Compliance process anticipated public reporting of compliance results via OCA 
website; this reporting did not occur (neither to MC or GC) 

 Full-court press promised by Holy Synod for 100% compliance by next Spring 2014; 
Holy Synod will decide then whether to make the results public 

 Need to consider how and when to implement audits of individual cases to ensure that 
processes have been followed properly and to help improve the operational procedures 

 Issues remain in final decision and implementation 

 SMPAC Charter and membership to be reviewed by Holy Synod in Spring 2014 

 Existing charter is attached; current membership is listed above 
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ORTHODOX CHURCH IN AMERICA 
SEXUAL MISCONDUCT POLICY ADVISORY COMMITTEE CHARTER 

(As extracted from OCA.org website Archives) 
 
The Sexual Misconduct Policy Advisory Committee (“Committee”) was created by Metropolitan 
JONAH on January 28, 2010 to work with and assist the Office of Review of Sexual Misconduct 
Allegations (“Office”). The Committee was initially known as the “Sexual Misconduct 
Allegations Review Committee.” 
 
AUTHORITY, RESPONSIBILITY AND SUPERVISION  
The Committee is under the authority of the Metropolitan (sic - should read Holy Synod of 
Bishops), and is chaired by the Chancellor of the Church, who is the day-to-day supervisor of the 
Office. The Committee operates in an advisory capacity only and does not assume any 
responsibility for the handling of sexual misconduct allegations, because that responsibility 
properly belongs to the Diocesan Hierarchs and the Office, according to the Policies, Standards, 
and Procedures on Sexual Misconduct. Committee members are appointed by the Metropolitan 
(sic - should read Holy Synod of Bishops).  
 
BACKGROUND  
The complexity of sexual misconduct allegations requires a multi-dimensional awareness of 
issues and skills in various disciplines, so that allegations of misconduct may be considered from 
several perspectives—spiritually, ethically, legally, clinically as well as pastorally. Overlapping 
and interrelation between these disciplines can best be addressed by a team approach, such as via 
a standing advisory committee to assist the Metropolitan (sic - should read Holy Synod of 
Bishops) and the Office. 
 
DUTIES  

1. Provide advice on how to improve both the content and effectiveness of the Church’s 
Policies, Standards, and Procedures on Sexual Misconduct. 

2. Assist in reviews of the extent to which the Church’s Policies, Standards, and 
Procedures on Sexual Misconduct are implemented in practice and how compliance with 
them is ensured. 

3. Assist in finding and nominating qualified professionals, who would be called on to do 
investigations when occasions arise. 

4. Assist in developing increased and improved training for clergy, Church employees, and 
applicable laypersons to enable a better understanding of their duties under the Policies, 
Standards and Procedures on Sexual Misconduct, including their mandatory reporting 
obligations under various state laws. 

5. Assist in any other requests for advice made by the Metropolitan (sic - should read Holy 
Synod of Bishops) and the Office. 
 

 INITIAL MEMBERSHIP 
(as of March 1, 2010) 
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Archpriest Alexander Garklavs (Chair), Archpriest Eric Tosi, Archpriest Michael Matsko, 
Archpriest Theodore Bobosh, Protodeacon Peter Danilchick, Dr. Nikita Eike, Mr. James 
Spencer, Esq. 



Secretary’s Report 
Archpriest Eric G. Tosi 

Fall 2013 Metropolitan Council Meeting 
September 24-26, 2013 

 
1. Overview 
 
It has been a busy six months as travel seemed to dominate the chancery work. I 
personally was home for one weekend between mid-April and the end of July. Most of 
this involved church work including such diverse areas as planning sessions to parish 
visitations. Despite the travel, the work of the Chancery continues to move forward even 
if the volume of that work always seems to increase. However, even as the work load 
increases, budgetary pressures combined with personnel issues have begun to have a 
serious adverse effect on operations. This is the major issue that needs to be discussed at 
this time since it really does involve how the Church operates on this level. I have 
profound thanks to the many volunteers and employees who have stepped up their effort 
over the past few months. We are all grateful for their work. 
 
2. Human Resources 
 
This has become the most critical area in Chancery operations over the summer. Three 
events provoked this problem. First was the expected marriage and move of Jessica 
Linke. She has been an invaluable part of the chancery operations for a number of years 
and she will be greatly missed.  Second was the sudden resignation of Andrew Boyd to 
take on a new position in the private sector.  Finally was the recent medical issues of the 
long time assistant Greg Sulich which necessitates him taking a leave of absence. This 
has brought about a small crisis in chancery operations which was at first manageable. 
 
The first change of Jessica's departure was anticipated and planned. Because of budgetary 
issues, it was decided to divide her work into three components. The first was the 
communications work (she maintains the website and social media as well as other 
critical operations on postings) and it was decided that she could continue this work on a 
contract basis from her new location. The communications team is a very fine tuned 
operation (we can go from reception to posting in under a minute) and we had no desire 
to change that procedure. The second part of her job was accounts payable. Since part of 
Andrew's job was accounts receivable and after an extensive review of the time and 
amount of work, it was decided to hire Barbara Anderson on a part time contract basis. 
The total hours of work for her in this area is about ten hours a week and since she was 
already the bookkeeper for the Pension Plan and thus familiar with the operations, it was 
a natural fit. This was reviewed and accepted by both the auditors (to ensure proper 
procedures can be maintained) and the Pension Board (to ensure no conflict of interest). 
So she was hired part time to maintain that aspect of the job.   
 
The final part of Jessica's job was basic secretarial/receptionist work. It was decided to 
utilize a volunteer at this time who was available to do this work. Katherine Linke, a 
parishioner and someone quite familiar with the chancery was asked to fill this position 
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for a few hours each day until we decided what we needed to do in this area. We do not 
underestimate the importance of someone answering the phone and it is already showing 
the adverse effect of not having someone answering phones. This will need to be 
reconsidered. 
 
The next critical aspect of the personnel issue was the resignation of Andrew Boyd. He 
performed a variety of jobs including accounts receivable and executive assistant. He also 
is the chair of the Youth and Young Adult Department. It was initially decided to replace 
his position and it was advertised. A few responses came in but none really were able to 
fill the void in all areas. In addition, the budgetary pressures of the reduced assessments 
and the need to cut costs convinced us that we could do the same as with Jessica's job and 
parcel out his job to other employees. We had farmed out the financial portion to Barbara 
and decided to give the executive assistant work to Greg Sulich. We also decided to begin 
training Roman Ostash on certain aspects of the operation and to utilize PDN Joseph 
Matusiak to work directly with His Beatitude on travels, visitations and correspondences.  
This worked well until Greg's illness which added a new gap in the operations. 
 
At this point we are using PDN Joseph and Roman to do the work but the work is 
beginning to back up so we ask for patience as we work through the problem. There is 
only so much they can do with limited time in the chancery. We are looking at some 
temporary help until we can determine what exactly we need. What is very clear is that 
such qualified and experienced workers are absolutely needed to cover the vast amount of 
work that must be done: from letters to calendars to official documents to meeting 
planning. It also shows the effect that reduced budgetary items have in basic areas of 
operation and the danger it poses to central church operations. We are being creative and 
cost conscious. 
 
3. Operations 
 
There are a few ongoing projects which are now reaching fruition. The first is the 
database for the OCA. As reported many times, it is out of date and in danger of crashing, 
utilizing the old Access 97 system. After much discussion with experts, it was decided to 
create a new database in the LINUX system. This database will integrate with the website 
and the Raiser's Edge. But more importantly it will also incorporate a full electronic 
database of clergy records and information. This will enable us to do specialized 
operations (such as an email blitz) and searches as a well as automatically update the 
website with clergy and parish information with a single entry. In addition, the database 
will include all old records so that it will automatically generate a list of deceased clergy 
that can be downloaded from the website for use by parishes. It will always be up to date 
as opposed to the old system of updating and issuing a new diptychs every ten years. We 
expect this to be in place by the end of the year. 
 
In a related issue, most of our computers operate with Microsoft XP which is due to be 
retired by Microsoft in April, 2014. That means we need to change over to new software 
and hardware to continue operations. Most of the computers are at least ten years old so it 
is time to make some changes. We have been slowly replacing some computers as they 
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break down but we will need to replace at least six over the next year. We will continue 
to utilize our sources for the best priced options. 
 
As was reported the contract for the AT&T tower was rejected due to the heavy rejection 
of the proposal by the neighborhood. There were numerous studies done including 
meetings with representatives of the company but in the end it was best not to move 
forward. The unanticipated outcome was a increased level of good will with the 
neighbors. 
 
The 501 C 3 determination was submitted as per the annual requirement. Ten parishes 
came back as needing more information (not unusual) and these will be resolved shortly 
as information is collected. There have been an unusually high number of new EIN 
requests and incorporation issues over the past six months. All of them were resolved in a 
timely manner. As an example, I travelled to New Skete to work with them on one such 
issue  
 
There was considerable work done by the Task Force in relation to the Chancery staff. 
All reports were submitted and I  refer you to their report on operations of the Chancery. 
 
There has been considerable work with the insurance companies in reference to legal 
issues and with the legal committee on a variety of issues which will be reported.  
 
I have also continued to work on background checks, tightening the ordination and clergy 
transfer procedures and working with members of the Holy Synod on a wide variety of 
projects.  At the request of St. Vladimir's Seminary, I am now managing the Seminary 
Internship Program for the five OCA seniors. This included revamping the program, 
assigning the interns, meeting with mentor priests and interns and a monthly meeting and 
course of instruction with the interns. This, we believe, makes it a top line internship 
program and is in line with other jurisdictions where the central church has a stronger 
involvement in the development of the clergy. The program will be worked on in 
conjunction with the seminary with some further revisions coming for the next year. 
 
I have also been involved with the work with the departments assisting them in logistics, 
planning and integration. I have been working closely with the Dean of Military 
Chaplains on some related issues. 
 
A final note is that we will need to begin to design and publish new metric books. The 
last run was done many years ago had some problems and are now basically sold out. We 
have had requests for these but cannot fill them. So a new design and run should be 
considered in the coming year. 
 
4. Council and Synods 
 
There have been an unusually high number  of meetings at the Chancery including the 
Holy Synod and Lesser Synod. These have included meeting with various teams, 
departments, committees, commissions and external organizations. We also hosted 
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meetings with various heads of jurisdictions and other matters relating to external affairs. 
There was a very positive meeting with the head of FOCA as we continue our plans for 
integrating them into the life of the Church. Other planned meetings are the annual 
chancellors/treasurers meeting, a meeting with department chairs, Pension Board, OCF, 
and military chaplains. We have also hosted meetings with Metropolitan Hilarion of 
ROCOR, Archbishop Justinian of the Moscow Patriarchate as well as other local 
dignitaries and guests. We expect more of these through the coming months as His 
Beatitude hosts different luncheons to meet other Orthodox bishops and dignitaries in the 
area. All of these meetings are critical in the life of the Church. His Beatitude has at least 
weekly meetings with the officers and monthly meetings with the staff. 
 
The planning for the 18th All-American Council is under way with a small executive 
committee. The Holy Synod did approve the delay of the AAC until 2015 and has given 
us guidance. We contracted Conference Direct who has been working with us for many 
years. We gave an initial Request for Proposal which outlined our requirements. We 
looked at many cities and after a number of proposals and counter proposals have 
narrowed the list down to two sites: Atlanta and Baltimore. Peter Ilchuk and I have 
visited both sites.  A full report with recommendations is in a separate report. 
 
It should be noted that there are three major requirements for the upcoming AAC as 
directed by the Holy Synod. They are to incorporate a youth element, that it be cost-
efficient and that it be held in July 2015. In addition, for the first time, FOCA has agreed 
to hold its annual convention in conjunction with the AAC. The major planned elements 
of the AAC will include Statute revisions and changes to finances. The next step in the 
planning process will be to examine further recommendations, nominate a site for 
Synodal approval, appoint a PCC and local committee chairs, finalize a budget and begin 
planning an agenda to include a theme, goals and priorities. In addition, the AAC 
assessment rate must be set this year and collection begun for next year.  There is much 
work to be done in the coming months including reinvigorating a Statutes Commission 
and prepare financing proposals. 
 
 5. Archives 
 
We have begun the process of putting together a comprehensive plan for the archives. 
Alex Liberovsky was given general instructions at the beginning of the summer which 
included finding names of people to serve on an archives research committee. He now 
has a list of names of people and they will begin the process of putting together a full 
report with recommendation for the next Metropolitan Council meeting. This report will 
include names of committee members, a review of the current state of the archives, an 
examination into all possible locations of the archives including relocation or building, 
funding plans, as well as possible grants to assist in archives and operations. 
 
This is long overdue and the current state of the archives needs to be considered before it 
deteriorates. It is an invaluable resources that needs to be preserved. I would note that 
there are, in reality, two archives: the historical archives which includes letters and files 
from historical figures in the OCA, and the working archives which includes all older 
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files of OCA and Chancery operations. The final instruction to Alex is to continue to 
clean the area and utilize volunteers to assist him in this endeavor. 
 
6. Estate Management 
 
We have completed the repairs and painting on the first two floors of the Chancery 
building (excluding the kitchen and copy room). The next phase will be to work on those 
two rooms and begin the renovations on the third floor. When completed we will have 
five  bedrooms that can be utilized for visitors. The next phase will cost approximately 
$15,000 and may need to be delayed for this year. 
 
The major ground consideration for this year's budget is the old pool. There are three bids 
on removing the pool and they ranged from $15,000 to $18,000. It is a major project that 
requires permits, excavation equipment, and soil to fill the hole. Because it is set on the 
back of the property without easy access, the costs rise as larger excavation equipment 
are excluded from use. However, the abandoned pool is a major liability and this issue 
needs to be finally resolved. It is  recommended that this be done in the upcoming year. 
 
The next phase of clean-up of the building will take place this winter where we will hire 
some labor to clean out the attics and basements. Stuff accumulates and it has not been 
cleaned in many years and a fire hazard. In the past we have hired some seminarians and 
we will try to utilize this method again. This project was planned for this summer but 
other issues prevented dedicating the time needed. 
 
7.  Communications 
 
Continued thanks to the communications team of Fr. John Matusiak, Jessica Linke and 
Ryan Platte.  They really do work above and beyond even though they are part-time. Our 
news is timely and accurate and they often work late into the evening and on weekends to 
fulfill sudden demands. We owe them a debt of gratitude for their good work. Even with 
Jessica transitioning to her new life, she will continue to be part of the team.  It is 
sometimes questioned as to why so many people actually are involved with press releases 
and website operations. The reason is twofold: first there is a clear hierarchy of posting, 
Fr John writes them, I review them, Jessica posts them and if some technical aspect is 
needed (like a video) Ryan handles that. Our record posting is under a minute so we are 
quite efficient. The second reason is for accountability. We must be accurate and we must 
ensure that nothing slips through so we have a few eyes on the posts. It protects all those 
involved. It is actually quite an efficient system. 
 
The next round of website updates were completed and we continue to move with our 
plan. Some of this was "under the hood" so it is not always noticeable but we have seen 
continuing improvement. A more complete technical report is attached.  
 
The integration of the new database with the website and the system here will provide 
seamless and easy updates. It is long overdue. We continue to make use of social media 
and other media including picture and video galleries. In addition, we give thanks to 
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Roman Ostash who also takes many photos of the Metropolitan's visits and submits them 
in a timely manner.  
 
The Departments are taking more responsibility for their sections. For example the 
Department of Evangelization will have their own new site under development that will 
be linked to the OCA website (like the Wonderblog for Youth). Also the Music 
Department has posted it new online seminars on the tones and choir directing which has 
had a number of hits. There are more plans being developed as we continue to have the 
best Orthodox website. 
 
The final issue is The Orthodox Church which has had a limited publishing this year. 
This was due to both costs and time allocated.  The reality is that it just is not worth the 
cost anymore since most of what is printed already appears on the website. The 
communications team would like to propose that we retire the TOC in its present form 
and replace it with an annual issue. It would recap the stories of the year with some 
special and specific articles. It would be a fine fundraising tool and also allow us to keep 
track of the events of the Church over the year, much like the old Sourcebook. It would 
reduce costs and still give the faithful something tangible. The expected cost would be 
around $15,000 a year.  
 
8. Crisis Management Team 
 
The Crisis Management Committee is now the Crisis Management Team. It consists of 
the Archbishop Benjamin, the officers, General Counsel, Bernie Wilson and two 
members of the Metropolitan Council. Thankfully there had not been much need of the 
Team over past few months. The team did have a few meetings to discuss some recent 
critical events and issued appropriate statements. There are a few upcoming issues that 
may need their involvement so we did meet to proactively prepare action items and 
statements. We also advised a couple of dioceses on some issues. Due to the sensitive 
nature of these items, they will not be fully discussed here. 
 
The Team has discussed continued training and is making plans to execute that training in 
the near future. 
 
9. Other Issues 
 
Finally, I wanted to report on the national Boy Scout Jamboree where I was the Orthodox 
Chaplain. It was an intense two weeks and wonderfully exhausting. I dealt with issues 
from caring for youth in the hospital to mediating problems between Egyptian Coptic and 
Muslim Scouts. We had a record attendance at Liturgy of over 250 Scouts. There were 
over 300 identified Orthodox Scouts at the  Jamboree and two Orthodox Chaplains.  
 
I was asked by the Boy Scout National Executive Committee to be the Orthodox 
representative on the Religious Relations Committee for the National Council, the first 
time an Orthodox cleric has been asked to sit on this committee. I will be with 50 other 
religious leaders of all denominations to assist the Scouts in their policies and operations 
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in the area relations with denominations and awards. I will be attending meetings three 
times a year and look forward to representing the Orthodox Church. 
 
I also attended the Evangelization  Summit in Charleston with His Beatitude. It was an 
excellent opportunity to gather people and begin the discussion on this critical area of 
Church life. As I chaired the Department for seven years prior to coming this position, I 
was asked to speak on the work that had been done and plans that had been interrupted by 
events. There will be some more discussion on this matter at this meeting. 
 
As always, I ask for your prayers and thank you for your support over the past six 
months. I apologize if I missed reporting on the many items I work through on a daily 
basis. 



September 2013 report to the Metropolitan Council
Ryan Platte, Technical Manager, Orthodox Church in America

Dear members of the Metropolitan Council,

With the dramatic reduction in budget came significant changes for the technology role. With no

budget available for the planned projects, I needed to have significant hours available to attract

other work. In order to continue to serve the OCA, I found primary employment elsewhere and am

working reduced hours for the OCA in addition to that.

In March I visited the NYC area for a meeting of the Assembly of Bishops web team. We had a

wonderful and fruitful exchange of expertise and ideas, particularly around social media strategies

and tactics.

I then visited the Chancery for the first time. A primary goal of that visit was to learn about

intra-office data, particularly around directories. I worked with Greg and Fr. Eric to form a plan that

would address the broken systems now in use and also keep the oca.org directory current

automatically without double entry. We have been awaiting the installation of a low-cost Linux

server (using a free-of-charge operating system on existing computer equipment) in the Chancery to

proceed with this project; at this writing that has just been completed.

Also in progress right now is the establishment of a shared website running Moodle educational

software. This was introduced by Mark Pearson in support of Dr. David Drillock’s classes for the Dept.

of Liturgical Music; we are now expanding it to be used by the Dept. of Continuing Education and the

Diaconal Formation Program. I am coordinating joint efforts by Mark, Archdeacon Kirill Sokolov, Fr.

Ian Pac-Urar, and me to bring everything into service for three fall classes from three different

groups.

I participated in a design refresh effort for the Youth and Young Adult Wonder blog. I did needed

system setup and provided technical and design feedback in cooperation with Andrew Boyd and

Sharon Spaulding.

I have also assisted the Dept. of Evangelization in providing hosting for a new website they will run.



Other activities have included:

● Plan austerity approach with Fr. Eric

● Explore and research a range of possibilities for stewardship for Fr. John Jillions

● Perform a major wave of needed software updates

● Provide tooling for Chancery staff to do many tasks themselves when needed

● Helped create fill-in certificates for oca.org/about/certificates

● Dealt with Facebook abusers, in general and some aggressive specific cases

● Addressed all common “not found” pages

● Resolved a number of system issues

● Tuned database

● Installed APC and made some other system changes to tighten up performance

● Provided analytics insight to Chancery officials and staff, as well as a Metropolitan Council

committee

● Trained staff on adding and editing Feasts & Saints and Readings entries

● Many other odds and ends

I continue to work to optimize all of my activities to bring the most value possible. I’m looking

forward to the upcoming delivery of the educational courses, stewardship campaign, and directory

project.

Respectfully submitted,

Ryan Platte

Technical Manager
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
 
To the Metropolitan Council 
The Orthodox Church in America 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of The Orthodox Church in America (the 
Church), which comprise the statement of financial position as of December 31, 2012, and the related 
statements of activities and of cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the 
financial statements.   
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this 
includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We 
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial statements.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion. 



 

 

Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the Church as of December 31, 2012, and the changes in its net assets 
and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial 
statements taken as a whole.  The supplementary information on page 20 is presented for 
purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements.  
Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates 
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial 
statements.  Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the 
audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing 
and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used 
to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and 
other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America.  In our opinion, the information is fairly stated in all material 
respects in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole. 
 
Correction of an Error 
 
As discussed in Note 16 to the financial statements, certain errors resulting in an overstatement 
of previously reported temporarily restricted net assets and a corresponding understatement of 
unrestricted net assets were discovered during the current year.  Accordingly, an adjustment of 
$223,240 was made during 2012 to reduce temporarily restricted net assets and increase 
unrestricted net assets as of the beginning of the year to correct the error.  Our opinion is not 
modified with respect to that matter. 
 

 
 
East Northport, New York 
September 20, 2013 
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The Orthodox Church in America 
Statement of Financial Position 

December 31, 2012 
 

Cash and cash equivalents 939,806$    
Assessments and other accounts receivable 201,474     
Bequests receivable 564,321     
Prepaid expenses 14,742       
Capitalized mortgage closing costs (net) 3,075         
Investments: 

Unrestricted 27,262       
Endowment fund pool 471,592     
St. Andrew endowment fund 102,568     
FOS endowment fund 68,662       
Annuity and unitrust agreements 459,686     

Land, buildings and equipment (net of accumulated depreciation) 243,196     

Total assets 3,096,384$ 

Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 121,201$    
Loan payable 59,616       
Annuity and unitrust agreements 286,014     

Total liabilities 466,831     

Net assets:
Unrestricted 101,172     
Temporarily restricted 1,506,421   
Permanently restricted 1,021,960   

Total net assets 2,629,553   

Total liabilities and net assets 3,096,384$ 

ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

 
 

See notes to financial statements. 
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The Orthodox Church in America 
Statement of Activities 

Year Ended December 31, 2012 
 

Temporarily Permanently

Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Totals

Support, revenue and releases:

Contributions:

Fellowship of Orthodox Stewards 10,080$       10,080$       
Charity 12,556         12,556         
Missions 5,251           5,251           
Seminary 1,199           1,199           
General contributions 463,682$    1,000           464,682       

Total contributions 463,682     30,086         493,768       

Revenue:

Assessments 2,281,079   2,281,079     
Publications 1,095         1,095           
Miscellaneous 4,353          4,353           

Total revenue 2,286,527    2,286,527     

Total support and revenue before net

   assets released from restrictions 2,750,209   30,086         2,780,295     

Net assets released from restrictions 192,804     (192,804)       

Total support, revenue and releases 2,943,013   (162,718)      2,780,295     

Expenses:

Program services 877,774      877,774       

Supporting services:

General administrative 1,087,151   1,087,151     
Development 159,299      159,299       

Total supporting services 1,246,450    1,246,450     

Total expenses 2,124,224    2,124,224     

Change in net assets from operations 818,789     (162,718)      656,071       

Other changes:

Depreciation (29,286)      (29,286)        
Amortization of closing costs (61,591)      (61,591)        
All-American Council income 68,761         68,761         
Net investment income 3,251         6,261           9,512           
Change in actuarial value of unitrusts 10,715       (1,006)          1,531$         11,240         
Professional fees - legal (158,829)      (158,829)      

Change in net assets after other changes 583,049     (88,702)        1,531           495,878       

Net assets at beginning of year,

as previously stated (705,117)    1,818,363     1,020,429     2,133,675     
Prior-period correction of an error 223,240     (223,240)        

Net assets at beginning of year, adjusted (481,877)    1,595,123     1,020,429     2,133,675     

Net assets at end of year 101,172$    1,506,421$   1,021,960$   2,629,553$    
 

See notes to financial statements.
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The Orthodox Church in America 
Statement of Cash Flows 

 Year Ended December 31, 2012 
 

Cash flows from operating activities:

Change in net assets 495,878$ 
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets

to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation 29,286     
Amortization of mortgage closing costs 61,591     
Net realized and unrealized gain on investments (2,951)     
Change in actuarial valuation of annuities and unitrusts (11,240)   
(Increase) decrease in:

Assessments and other accounts receivable (72,096)   
Note receivable 16,508     
Prepaid expenses 1,493      
Bequests receivable 382,274   

Increase (decrease) in:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (33,734)   
Deferred revenue (25,568)   

Net cash provided by operating activities 841,441   

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of equipment (13,226)   
Purchase of investments (618,474)  
Proceeds from sale of investments 610,363   

Net cash used by investing activities (21,337)   

Cash flows from financing activities:

Repayment of principal (624,596)  

Net cash used by financing activities (624,596)  

Net increase in cash 195,508   

Cash at beginning of year 744,298   

Cash at end of year 939,806$ 

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Cash paid for interest expense 15,258$    
 
 
 

See notes to financial statements. 



The Orthodox Church in America 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

December 31, 2012 
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1. Organization and Purpose: 
 

The Orthodox Church in America (the “Church”) was originally founded as a mission and later 
became a diocese in the Orthodox Church of Russia, uniting in its fold Orthodox Christians of various 
national backgrounds and traditions.  It subsequently developed into a self-governing 
Metropolitanate, the Russian Orthodox Greek Catholic Church of America.  Confirmation as an 
Autocephalous Church was accomplished by the action of the Patriarch and Holy Synod of Russia on 
April 10, 1970.  The Orthodox Church in America was proclaimed an Autocephalous Church on 
October 19, 1970, at the sessions of the All-American Council held at St. Tikhon’s Monastery in 
South Canaan, Pennsylvania.  

 
The Orthodox Church in America is an Autocephalous Church with territorial jurisdiction in the 
United States of America and the Commonwealth of Canada.  Its doctrine, discipline, and worship are 
those of the One, Holy, Catholic, and Apostolic Church as taught by the Holy Scriptures, Holy 
Tradition, the Ecumenical and Provincial Councils, and the Holy Fathers. 

 
The Orthodox Church in America is exempt from income tax under Section 501(c)(3) of the U.S. 
Internal Revenue Code and comparable state law, and contributions to it are tax deductible within the 
limitations prescribed by the Code.  The Church has been classified as a publicly supported 
organization which is not a private foundation under Section 509(a) of the Code. 

 
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: 
 

The significant accounting policies followed are described below to enhance the usefulness of the 
financial statements to the reader. 

 
a. Accrual Basis Financial Statements 

 
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis and conform to 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and in accordance with 
the principles of not-for-profit accounting. 

 
b. Net Assets  

 
The Orthodox Church in America reports in accordance with FASB ASC 958.  FASB ASC 958 
establishes standards for external financial reporting by not-for-profit organizations and requires 
that resources be classified for accounting and reporting purposes into three net asset categories 
according to externally (donor-imposed) restrictions.  The net assets of the Church and changes 
therein are classified and reported as follows: 

 
 Unrestricted net assets include all resources which are not subject to donor-imposed 

restrictions of a more specific nature than those which only obligate the organization to 
utilize funds in furtherance of its mission.  Unrestricted net assets also include “underwater” 
endowments and funds borrowed from endowments for use in operations. 

 
 Temporarily restricted net assets are those contributed with donor stipulations for specific 

operating purposes and programs, those with time restrictions or those not currently available 
for use until commitments regarding their use have been fulfilled.  Temporarily restricted net 
assets also include contributions and pledges receivable and accumulated endowment 
earnings that are restricted by the donor for a particular purpose or whose use is unrestricted 
but have not yet been appropriated for expenditure. 

  



The Orthodox Church in America 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

December 31, 2012 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:  (Continued) 
 

 Permanently restricted net assets are subject to the restrictions of gift instruments requiring 
that the principal be invested in perpetuity.  Generally, the donors of these funds permit the 
organization to use all or part of the income earned on related investments, and the net capital 
appreciation thereon, for general or specific purposes. 
 

c. Support and Revenue 
 

Contributions are recorded when made, which may be when cash is received, or when 
unconditional promises are made.  Contributions restricted by the donor for a specific purpose are 
recorded as support in the temporarily restricted or permanently restricted class of net assets 
(depending on the nature of the restrictions) until funds have been expended by the Church for the 
purposes specified.  Upon satisfaction of the restriction, temporarily restricted net assets are 
reclassified to unrestricted net assets and reported in the statement of activities as net assets 
released from restrictions.  Bequests are recorded as income at the time the organization has an 
established right to the bequest and the proceeds are measurable.  Donated assets are recorded at 
their fair market value on the date of donation. 

 
Assessment income is recorded when earned, which is the period for which the assessments are 
for.  Investment income is recorded in the month it is earned.  Other income is recorded when 
earned. 
 

d. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

The Church considers all highly liquid instruments with maturities less than three months to be 
cash and cash equivalents.  Certain items meet the definition of cash equivalents but are part of a 
larger pool of investments and are classified as investments in the statement of financial position.  
From time to time, these balances may exceed federal deposit insurance limits; however, the 
Church has not experienced any losses on these accounts and management does not believe it is 
exposed to any significant risk. 

 
e. Assessments and Other Accounts Receivable 

 
Assessments and other accounts receivable are stated at the amount management expects to 
collect from outstanding balances.  Receivables are expected to be collected within one year, and 
are therefore recorded at net realizable value.  Management provides for probable uncollectible 
amounts through a provision for bad debt expense and an adjustment to a valuation allowance 
based on its assessment of the current status of individual accounts.  Balances that are still 
outstanding after management has used reasonable collection efforts are written off through a 
charge to the valuation allowance and a credit to accounts receivable.  At December 31, 2012, 
there is no allowance. 

 
f. Investments 

 
Investments consist of equity and debt securities with readily determinable fair market values are 
reported at fair market value, with gains and losses included in the statement of activities.  
Donated investments are reflected as contributions at their fair market values at date of receipt.  
In addition, the Church considers certain cash, money market, and highly liquid investments to be 
either temporarily or permanently restricted as long-term investments. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:  (Continued) 
 
g. Investment Pools 

 
The Church maintains master investment accounts for its donor-restricted endowments.  Realized 
and unrealized gains and losses from securities in the master investment accounts are allocated 
monthly to the individual endowments based on the relationship of the market value of each 
endowment to the total market value of the master investment accounts, as adjusted for additions 
to or deductions from those accounts. 

 
h. Land, Buildings, and Equipment 

 
Land, buildings, and equipment are stated at cost, or, if donated, at the estimated fair market 
value at the date of donation.  The Church’s policy is to capitalize fixed asset expenditures of 
$3,000 or more.  Depreciation is recorded using the straight-line method at various rates 
calculated to allocate the cost of the respective items over their estimated useful lives. 

 
Estimated useful lives are: 

 
Buildings and improvements 40 years 
Furniture and equipment 3-10 years 
Software 3 years 

 
Donations of land, buildings, and equipment are recorded as support at their estimated fair value 
at the date of donation.  Such donations are reported as unrestricted support unless the donor has 
restricted the donated asset to a specific purpose.  Assets donated with explicit restrictions 
regarding their use are reported as restricted support.   

 
If there are no donor stipulations regarding how long those donated assets must be maintained, 
the Church reports expirations of donor restrictions when the donated or acquired assets are 
placed in service.  The Church reclassifies temporarily restricted net assets to unrestricted net 
assets at that time. 
 

i. Annuity and Unitrust Agreements 
 

Annuity agreements 
 
The Church established gift annuities whereby donors may contribute assets in exchange for the 
right to receive an annual return during their lifetime.  This transaction provides for a portion of 
the transfer to be considered a charitable contribution for income tax purposes.  The difference 
between the amount of the annuity and the liability for future payments, determined on an 
actuarial basis, is recognized as income at the date of gift.  The actuarial liability for annuities 
payable is evaluated annually (giving effect to investment income and payments to annuitants) 
and any surplus or deficiency is recognized as investment income.  Assets held for annuities 
payable totaled $95,970 at December 31, 2012.  The present value of the remaining future 
liability to be distributed by the Church at December 31, 2012 is $86,816. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:  (Continued) 
 
i. Annuity and Unitrust Agreements (Continued) 

 
Unitrust agreements 
 
The Church is named as beneficiary of several charitable remainder unitrusts.  A unitrust provides 
for the payment of distributions to the grantor or other designated beneficiaries over the trust’s 
term (usually the designated beneficiary’s lifetime).  At the end of the trust’s term, the remaining 
assets are available for the Church’s use.  The portion of the trust attributable to the present value 
of the future benefits to be received by the Church is recorded in the Statement of Activities as a 
temporarily restricted contribution in the period the trust is established.  On an annual basis, the 
Church revalues the present value of the remaining future liability based upon actuarial 
assumptions.  Assets held in the charitable remainder unitrusts totaled $363,716 at December 31, 
2012.  The present value of the remaining future liability to be distributed by the Church is 
calculated using various rates and applicable mortality tables and at December 31, 2012 totals 
$199,198. 
 

j. Functional Allocation of Expenses 
 

The costs of providing the various programs and other activities have been summarized on a 
functional basis in the statement of activities.  Accordingly, certain costs have been allocated 
among the programs and supporting services benefited. 

 
k. Uncertain Tax Positions 

 
The financial statement effects of a tax position taken or expected to be taken are recognized in 
the financial statements when it is more likely than not, based on the technical merits, that the 
position will be sustained upon examination.  Interest and penalties, if any, are included in 
expenses in the statement of activities.  As of December 31, 2012, the Church had no uncertain 
tax positions that qualify for recognition or disclosure in the financial statements.   

 
l. Use of Estimates 

 
The Church uses estimates and assumptions in preparing the financial statements in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  Those estimates 
and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of any 
contingent assets and liabilities, and the reported revenues and expenses.  Actual results could 
vary from the estimates that were assumed in preparing the financial statements.  
 

3. Cash and Cash Equivalents: 
 

Cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2012 consist of the following: 
 

Unrestricted operating funds $  81,228 
St. Sergius Chapel account 23,010 
Reserve account 39,346 
Funds set aside for satisfaction 
   donor restrictions   796,222 
 
 $939,806 
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4. Assessments and Accounts Receivable: 
 

Assessments and accounts receivable at December 31, 2012 are comprised of the following: 
 

Accounts receivable $  26,792 
Assessments receivable   174,682 
 
 $201,474 

 
Accounts and assessments receivables are expected to be collected in the subsequent year.   

 
5. Bequests Receivable: 
 

The Church is a beneficiary in three estates for which it was notified of prior to December 31, 2012.  
The total remaining funds that the Church expects to receive at December 31, 2012 is $564,321.  The 
remaining bequests receivable are expected to be collected during 2013.  

 
6. Capitalized Mortgage Closing Costs: 
 

Closing costs of $87,682 pertaining to a $1,700,000 refinance have been capitalized and are being 
amortized over the life of the loan.  A significant portion of the remaining loan principal was repaid 
during 2012, therefore an accelerated amount of closing cost amortization was recognized in 2012.  
As of December 31, 2012, accumulated closing cost amortization was $84,607, leaving a net balance 
of $3,075.  Total amortization expense during the year ended December 31, 2012 was $61,591. 

 
7. Investments: 
 

Investments are recorded at fair market value, and at December 31, 2012 consist of: 
 

Money market funds $   267,965 
Certificates of deposit 401,090 
U.S. government agency obligations 148,264 
U.S. government securities 23,189 
Municipal bonds 5,457 
Corporate bonds 83,439 
Mutual funds 102,723 
Corporate stocks 1,673 
Annuity investments        95,970 
 
 $1,129,770 

 
Investment income is reported net of related expenses as follows:  
 

Unrestricted
Temporarily 
Restricted Total

Interest and dividends 1,156$           9,481$         10,637$  
Realized gains (losses) 437               (108)            329        
Unrealized gains(losses) 1,658             964             2,622      
Investment fees  (4,076)          (4,076)     

Total 3,251$           6,261$         9,512$     
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7. Investments:  (Continued) 
 

Risks and Uncertainties Related to Investments 
 
Investment securities are exposed to various risks, such as changes in interest rates or credit ratings 
and market fluctuations.  Due to the level of risk associated with certain investment securities and the 
level of uncertainty related to changes in the value of investment securities, it is possible that the 
value of the Church investments and total net assets balance could fluctuate materially. 
 
The Church maintains custody accounts with various custodians.  Although the Church monitors the 
custodians and believes that they are appropriate custodians, there is no guarantee that the custodians, 
or any other custodians that the Church may use from time to time, will not become insolvent.  The 
Church believes that, in the event of the insolvency of its custodian, some of the Church’s assets may 
be unavailable for a period of time, but that it would ultimately have full recovery of its assets. 

 
8. Land, Buildings and Equipment:  
 

A summary of land, buildings and equipment at December 31, 2012 follows: 
 

Land, buildings and improvements $  531,783 
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 468,476 
Software        33,000 
 
   1,033,259 
 
Less: Accumulated depreciation    (790,063) 
 
 Total $  243,196 

 
Depreciation expense for the year ending December 31, 2012 amounted to $29,286. 

 
9. Loan Payable: 
 

Loan payable at December 31, 2012 consisted of the following: 
 

$1,700,000 mortgage loan payable, collateralized by property in Oyster Bay, 
New York, and maturing in September 2026.  The interest rate as of December 
31, 2012 is 7%.   $59,616 
 
During 2012, the Church made large principal payments on the loan totaling $624,596.  The 
remaining principal balance at December 31, 2012 of $59,616 was subsequently paid in full in May 
of 2013. 
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10. Lease Commitments:   
 

The Church leases office equipment under non-cancellable operating leases.  Expenses related to 
these leases amounted to $22,212 for the year ending December 31, 2012.  Estimated future minimum 
lease payments by year and in the aggregate under the lease consists of the following as of December 
31, 2012: 

 
 Year Ending December 31, 
 

2013 $21,324 
2014 21,324 
2015 14,628 
2016     7,932 
 
 $65,208 

 
11. Retirement Plan: 
 

The Church participates in the Orthodox Church in America pension plan, which is a multi-employer 
plan.  The plan provides defined benefits with participation available to all full-time employees.  The 
Church contributes an amount equal to 6% of eligible employee’s gross wages.  The retirement 
benefit costs charged to expense in 2012 amounted to $41,600. 

 
12. Fair Value Measurements: 
 

The Church uses appropriate valuation techniques to determine fair value based on inputs available.  
When available, the Church measures fair value using Level 1 inputs because they generally provide 
the most reliable evidence of fair value.  Level 3 inputs are only used when Level 1 or Level 2 inputs 
were not available. 

 
Fair values of assets measured on a recurring basis at December 31, 2012 are as follows: 
 

Quoted Prices in Significant
Active Markets Other Significant

for Identical Observable Unobservable
Fair Value Assets (Level 1) Inputs (Level 2) Inputs (Level 3)

Assets:

Investments
Money market funds 267,965$     267,965$       

Mutual funds:
Fixed income funds 102,723       102,723         

Corporate stocks 1,673           1,673            

Corporate bonds 83,439         83,439           

Negotiable certificates of
deposit 140,402       140,402         

Certificates of deposit 260,688       260,688$      

U.S. Government agency
obligations 148,264       148,264         

U.S. Government securities 23,189         23,189           

Municipal bonds 5,457           5,457            

Annuity investments 95,970          95,970$          

Total investments 1,129,770    773,112         95,970           260,688        

Total 1,129,770$   773,112$       95,970$         260,688$      
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12. Fair Value Measurements:  (Continued) 
 

Valuation techniques:  
 

Fair values for money market funds, mutual funds, corporate stocks, corporate bonds, negotiable 
certificates of deposit, U.S. Government agency obligations, U.S. Government securities, municipal 
bonds and annuity investments are determined by reference to quoted market prices and other 
relevant information generated by market transactions.  The fair value of the certificates of deposit are 
based on yields for securities of comparable maturity, quality, and type as obtained from market 
makers. 

 
The following table provides further details of the Level 3 fair value measurements: 

 
Certificates
of Deposit

Balance, December 31, 2011 190,000$      

Purchases and sales:
Purchases 70,688          

   Sales -                  

Balance, December 31, 2012 260,688$       
 

13. Temporarily Restricted Net Assets: 
 

Temporarily restricted net assets are for the following purposes: 
 

12/31/2011 Additions and 12/31/2012
Balance Other Changes Releases Balance

Mission appeal 969,056$     5,251$              44,751$    929,556$    
Seminary appeal 4,015          1,199                5,214       
Publication reserve fund 29,556        29,556        
Charity 71,350        12,566              10,000     73,916        
Theological education - academic fellowship 59,300        59,300        
Chaplain reserve 1,896          1,896          
Uni-trust (life income) funds 156,145      1,447                157,592      
General purpose endowment excess earnings 77,515        1,610                79,125        
Restricted endowments excess earnings 139,376      3,894                858          142,412      
Other restricted purposes 86,914        78,135              131,981    33,068        

Total 1,595,123$  104,102$           192,804$  1,506,421$  
 

14. Permanently Restricted Net Assets: 
 

Permanently restricted net assets consist of the following at December 31, 2012: 
 

Donor restricted endowments: 
    General purposes $    224,268 
    Restricted purposes 775,762 
Permanently restricted charitable 
    remainder unitrust        21,930 
 
   $1,021,960 
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15. Endowments: 
 

The Church’s endowments consist of approximately 40 individual funds established for a variety of 
purposes.  Net assets associated with endowment funds are classified and reported based on the 
existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions as specified in the Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies outlined in these notes.   
 
The Church classifies as permanently restricted net assets (a) the original value of gifts donated to the 
donor-restricted permanent endowment, (b) the original value of subsequent gifts to the donor-
restricted permanent endowment, and (c) accumulations to the permanent endowment made in 
accordance with the direction of the applicable donor gift instrument at the time the accumulation is 
added to the fund.  The remaining portion of the donor-restricted endowment fund that is not 
classified in permanently restricted net assets is classified as temporarily restricted net assets until 
those amounts are appropriated for expenditure by the Church.  The Church considers the following 
factors in making a determination to appropriate or accumulate donor-restricted endowment funds: 
 

(1)  The duration and preservation of the fund 
(2)  The purposes of the Church and the donor-restricted endowment fund 
(3)  General economic conditions 
(4)  The possible effect of inflation and deflation 
(5)  The expected total return from income and the appreciation of investments 
(6)  Other resources of the Church 
(7)  The investment policies of the Church 

 
Funds with Deficiencies 
 
From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with individual donor-restricted endowment 
funds may fall below the level that the donor or endowment agreement requires the Church to retain as 
a fund of perpetual duration.  In accordance with GAAP, deficiencies of this nature that are reported in 
unrestricted net assets were $487,418 as of December 31, 2012. $401,500 of these deficiencies are the 
result of borrowing from the endowment assets to fund operations, and the remaining $85,918 resulted 
from realized losses that occurred shortly after the market downturn in 2008. 
 
Return Objectives and Risk Parameters 
 
The Church follows investment and spending policies for endowment assets that attempt to provide a 
predictable stream of funding to programs supported by its endowment while seeking to maintain the 
purchasing power of the endowment assets.  Endowment assets include those assets of donor-
restricted funds that the Church must hold in perpetuity, or for donor-specified periods.  Under this 
policy, the endowment assets are invested in a manner that is intended to maximize returns while 
assuming a conservative level of investment risk.  Actual returns in any given year may vary. 
 
Strategies Employed for Achieving Objectives 
 
To satisfy its long-term rate-of-return objectives, the Church relies on a total return strategy in which 
investment returns are achieved through both capital appreciation (realized and unrealized) and 
current yield (interest and dividends).  The Church targets a well-diversified and balanced asset 
allocation that places a greater emphasis on cash and fixed income investments (over 90%) to achieve 
its long-term return and growth objectives within prudent risk constraints. 
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15. Endowments:  (Continued) 
 
Spending Policy and How the Investment Objectives Relate to Spending Policy 

 
The Church has a policy of appropriating funds for distribution only to fund specific projects and 
programs, when needed.  This spending policy allows the endowment funds to grow annually.  This is 
consistent with the Church objective to maintain the purchasing power of the endowment assets held 
in perpetuity, as well as to provide additional real growth through new gifts and investment return.   

 
Changes in endowment funds for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, consisted of the 
following: 
 
Endowment net asset composition by type of fund as of December 31, 2012:

Temporarily Permanently
Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total

Donor restricted endowments for:
General purposes (139,143)$   79,125$     224,268$      164,250$   
Restricted purposes (348,275)     142,412     775,762       569,899    

Total endowment funds (487,418)$   221,537$    1,000,030$   734,149$   

Changes in endowment net assets for the year ended December 31, 2012:

Temporarily Permanently
Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total

Endowment net assets,
January 1, 2012 (709,649)$   437,508$    1,000,030$   727,889$   

Prior-period restatement,
(see Note 16) 220,678      (220,678)      

Endowment net assets, 
January 1, 2012 as restated (488,971)$   216,830$    1,000,030$   727,889$   

Investment return:
Interest and dividend

income (net of fees) 5,405         5,405
Realized and unrealized

gains and losses  856            856          

Total investment return  6,261          6,261        

Other changes:
Change in underwater endowmen 1,553         (1,553)          

Endowment net assets,
December 31, 2012 (487,418)$   221,538$    1,000,030$   734,150$   
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16. Prior Period Correction of an Error: 
 

Certain errors resulting in an overstatement of previously reported temporarily restricted net assets 
and a corresponding understatement of unrestricted net assets were discovered during the current 
year.  Accordingly, an adjustment of $223,240 was made during 2012 to reduce temporarily restricted 
net assets and increase unrestricted net assets as of the beginning of the year to correct the error. 
 

17. Financial Condition: 
 
The Church has not consistently maintained the necessary amounts of cash or investments to fund all 
donor-restricted projects.  As of December 31, 2012, the Church has outstanding borrowing from the 
endowment pool investments totaling $401,500 to fund operations, and has an additional shortfall of 
liquid cash and investments to fund remaining temporarily restricted net assets amounting to 
$104,630. 
 

18. Subsequent Events: 
 
Management of the Church evaluated subsequent events through September 20, 2013, which is the 
date the financial statements were available to be issued.  Subsequent events after that date have not 
been evaluated.  Management discovered no subsequent events requiring disclosure.   
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The Orthodox Church in America 
Supplemental Schedule of Expenses 

Year Ended December 31, 2012 
 

General and

Program Administrative Development Totals

Program services, including related salaries:

Website and public relations 78,169$    78,169$       

Newspaper, Sourcebook/Calendar 77,224     77,224        

History and archives 97,877     97,877        

External affairs 101,834    101,834       

Charity 1,252       1,252          

Missions and stewardship 101,044    101,044       

Seminaries 6,000       6,000          

Education and community life 20,440     20,440        

Youth ministry 24,611     24,611        

Pastoral life 23,013     23,013        

All-American Council 145,770    145,770       

Supporting services:

Salaries and stipends 29,952     479,232$        89,856$     599,040       

Payroll taxes and employee benefits 9,998       159,975         29,995       199,968       

Supplies and other office expenses 15,973     16,855           3,293         36,121        

Telephone and interest 7,495       9,369             1,874         18,738        

Professional fees and contracted services 175,014         175,014       

Travel 69,730     87,162           17,432       174,324       

Meetings and conferences 2,263       2,828             566            5,657          

Interest expense 6,103       7,629             1,526         15,258        

Property taxes and town fees 11,974     14,968           2,994         29,936        

Repairs and maintenance/building and grounds 18,094     22,618           4,524         45,236        

Building utilities 10,578     13,222           2,644         26,444        

Postage and shipping 1,752       2,191             438            4,381          

Bad debt expense - assessments and

notes receivable 26,126           26,126        

Bad debt expense - bequests receivable 39,500           39,500        

Insurance 13,762     17,202           3,440         34,404        

Bank and credit card fees 2,303       3,839             576            6,718          

Miscellaneous 563          9,421             141            10,125        

Operating expenses before depreciation,

     amortization and professional fees 877,774    1,087,151       159,299     2,124,224    

Depreciation 11,714     14,643           2,929         29,286        

Amortization of closing costs 24,637     30,795           6,159         61,591        

Professional fees - legal  158,829          158,829       

Total expenses 914,125$  1,291,418$     168,387$    2,373,930$   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

See auditor’s report on supplementary information. 
 Schedule 1 
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